
 
 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK PANEL 
AGENDA 

 
Venue: The Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 

Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ  
Date:   Friday, 24th June, 2022 
Time:   2.00 pm 
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby Tel: 07385 362806 

 
 
  

1. Appointment of Chair   
 

2. Appointment of Deputy Chair   
 

3. Apologies for Absence   
 

4. Declarations of Interest   
 

5. Minutes of the Meeting held on 4 March 2022  1 - 2 
 

6. Local Plan 2021- 2038 Additional Consultation and Updated Programme  3 - 10 
 

7. Local Plan 2021- 2038 Consultation into the proposed Gypsy and Traveller 
site allocation and amendments to Policy N5 (Water Resources)  

11 - 46 

 
Membership: Councillors Graham Calvin, James Date, Jeanette Forster, Joseph Ghayouba, 
Michael McVeigh, Andy Pratt and Carl Walmsley 

 
Contacts:  Direct Dial: 07385362806 
   E-mail:  clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk 
   Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK PANEL 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON FRIDAY, 4 MARCH 2022 
 

Present: Councillors Carl Walmsley (Chair), Jeanette Forster, Joseph Ghayouba, 
Michael McVeigh and Andy Pratt. 
 
Officers: Chris Hoban (Strategic Planning Manager), Leanne Parr (Principal 
Strategic Planner) and Clive Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer). 
 
 

LDF 21/12 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors James Date and  
Graham Minshaw. 
 
 

LDF 21/13 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no Declarations of Interests made at this meeting. 
 
 

LDF 21/14 Minutes of the Meeting held on 23 November 2021  
 
Consideration was given to the Minutes of the meeting held on  
23 November 2021.  
 
RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 November 2021 be 
signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 
 

LDF 21/15 Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038: Gypsy and Traveller Site Allocation  
 
The Strategic Planning Manager and Principal Strategic Planner introduced this 
report which asked for Members’ agreement to commence a 6-week public 
consultation which sought feedback on the suitability of a site(s) in Whitehaven 
as a Gypsy and Traveller Site; sought Members’ views on whether the 
consultation should be limited to the Council’s preferred site, or should also 
include a second alternative site; and 
sought Members’ agreement that, following the consultation, the site be 
included within the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 as a Gypsy and Traveller site 
and submitted to the Secretary of State for independent Examination. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 
 
Members of the Strategic Planning team then guided the Panel through the 
Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038: Potential Gypsy and Traveller Site Assessment 
and the draft Gypsy and Traveller Site Allocation Consultation Paper. 
 
During the full and open discussion that followed, members expressed their 
views for and against each proposed site. 
 
The Strategic Planning team were thanked for their continued hard work. 
 
Councillor Andy Pratt proposed that both proposed sites be considered equally 
in the public consultation, with no preference being stated. 
This proposal was seconded by Councillor Joseph Ghayouba. 
 
A vote was then taken.  
 
RESOLVED:-  that  

a) the suitability of the two potential sites for Gypsy and Traveller use be 
considered; 

b) the two potential sites be included for equal consideration in the public 
consultation with no preference being stated, and 

c) an amended consultation document, including Appendix B, be approved 
and presented at Full Council with a recommendation that it be subject to 
a six week public consultation between 21st March and 3rd May 2022. 

 
 
 
The Meeting closed at 3.11 pm  
 

 
Chair 

Page 2



Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038: Additional Consultation and Updated 
Programme  

 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER:   Councillor Andy Pratt 

LEAD OFFICER:  Chris Hoban 

REPORT AUTHOR:  Chris Hoban 
 
 
PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To provide an update on Local Plan progress to date and identify work still to be 
undertaken before Submission and the proposed key milestones associated with 
this.  The update and work required are primarily based on advice from the 
Planning Inspectorate following our Advisory Meeting with them on 29th March 
2022. 
 
The work includes an additional public consultation as outlined in the following 
report on this agenda, and if supported will be incorporated into an updated Local 
Development Scheme that will be presented to Full Council for approval.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That members note the update in this report and approve the proposed process 
and new timescales for submitting the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038.  This can 
then be presented to Full Council on 6th July in an updated Local Development 
Scheme. 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 will replace the current Core Strategy 

and Development Management Policies document (adopted December 
2013) to provide an up to date, positive and sustainable development plan 
for Copeland and the Copeland portion of the new Cumberland authority 
following its adoption. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



 
 
1.2 Production of the Local Plan is well advanced, however following our 

Advisory Meeting with a Planning Inspector a procedural matter has been 
raised which requires a little extra work and further consultation prior to 
submitting the Plan for public Examination.  Doing this work now will save a 
great deal of time and risk compared to if we were to try to proceed, submit 
now and have these matters considered during the Examination. 

 
 
2. PROGRESS TO DATE  
 
2.1 The Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 Publication Draft was approved by Full 

Council in December 2021 and a Regulation 19 consultation took place on 
that document during January, February and March 2022. 

 
2.2 Unfortunately, evidence of Gypsy and Traveller needs were not known at 

the time the Publication Draft was completed and so there was a gap (in 
Policy H9PU) that a site could be added to if a need was identified. 

 
2.3 After lengthy delays, the Cumbria Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 

Assessment (GTAA) was completed at the end of January 2022 and 
identified a requirement for 12 residential pitches in Copeland to meet the 
needs of households that meet the planning definition of Gypsies and 
Travellers.   

 
2.4 In order to meet this need a number of Council owned pieces of land were 

considered, and two preferred sites were approved for public consultation 
as a potentially suitable Gypsy and Traveller allocation.  Public consultation 
took place between 21st March and 3rd May and the intention was to use 
the feedback from the consultation, together with site specific assessments, 
to identify the preferred site for inclusion in the Local Plan as a modification 
during the public Examination. 

 
2.5 Following discussion with the Planning Inspectorate we have been informed 

that this process may lead to long delays and risks during the Examination. 

Page 4



 
3. PLANNING INSPECTORATE ADVISORY MEETING 
 
3.1 The Planning Inspectorate offer Advisory Meetings with Local Planning 

Authorities prior to submitting their Local Plan for Examination.  The 
purpose of these meetings is to discuss key issues within the Plan, areas of 
concern and for the Inspector to provide guidance and advice to ensure as 
smooth and successful Examination as possible. 

 
3.2 A number of topics were covered during our meeting and the Inspector has 

helpfully identified a number of relatively small enhancements, updates and 
additional information that would help our appointed Inspector during the 
Examination itself. 

 
3.3 When we discussed our approach regarding adding the preferred Gypsy and 

Traveller site allocation alongside the Local Plan following the close of the 
consultation he identified a number of concerns and risks.  These are: 

 
  The submitted sites would not have been subject to SA, HRA and other 

assessments (such as ecology) that the remainder of the Plan had been 
through prior to selecting the preferred site and holding a public 
consultation.  This would need to be rectified to enable them to be 
Examined 

  As we are submitting a Plan we believe to be ‘sound’ and have carried 
out a Regulation 19 consultation on 2 sites, they are technically both 
being submitted for inclusion and the Inspector could recommend both 
are allocated unless the Plan would be unsound to do so 

  The process for an Inspector during Examination to correct the above 
and ensure that only one site is allocated would very likely give rise to a 
long and protracted Examination with numerous consultations 

 
3.4 An added benefit of doing the work prior to Submission is that it will enable 

an updated Policy N5 (water resources) to be submitted that can address 
the issue of nutrient neutrality.  This is important as Natural England have 

Page 5



recently announced that the Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake SAC is 
affected by nutrient pollution and that certain developments within the SAC 
catchment area will need to provide mitigation. 

 
3.5 Whilst none of the Local Plan allocations are affected by nutrient neutrality, 

the updated policy will help the Council deal with windfall development 
within the SAC catchment area that might be affected, and both PINS and 
Natural England have advised the Council to address the issue through 
planning policy. 

 
3.6 As such, the Inspector recommended completing the assessments of the 

sites as planned, including Habitats Regulations Assessment and 
Sustainability Appraisal, and then holding a further Regulation 19 
consultation on the one preferred site for inclusion in the Publication Draft.  
This second Regulation 19 would supersede the consultation of march to 
May this year and ensure the Inspector only considers the one proposed 
site allocation. 

 
4. FURTHER WORK AND MILESOTONES FOR SUBMITTING THE PLAN 
 
4.1 Following the Advisory meeting officers have been working with consultants 

to ensure the assessments (ecology, landscape, site access, Heritage Impact 
Assessment) as well as initial HRA and Sustainability Appraisal of both Gypsy 
and Traveller sites are completed. 

 
4.2 Consultants have now completed their reports and we have now begun 

consultation on the Interim HRA and Sustainability Appraisal with the 
statutory consultees and should receive feedback on those by the end of 
June. 

 
4.3 This work has enabled a preferred Gypsy and Traveller site to be identified, 

which can be presented to Full Council on 6th July.  At this meeting 
Members can approve a 6 week Regulation 19 consultation on the 

Page 6



preferred Gypsy and Traveller site, together with an update to Policy N5: 
Protection of Water Resources.  Full details of the proposed consultation are 
in a separate report on this agenda. 

 
4.4 It is anticipated the public consultation would run from 13th July to 24th 

August, with Submission to the Planning Inspectorate expected to be on 
16th September.  This programme should still allow for Hearing sessions to 
take place before Christmas, or possibly January 2023, and consultation on 
the Inspector’s Main Modifications to the Plan to be completed before 
March 2023. 

 
4.5 This would mean that the new Cumberland Council could receive the 

Inspector’s Report, make the necessary changes identified in the Inspector’s 
Report (which Copeland Council would have considered and agreed), and 
adopt the Local Plan in Summer 2023.  Cumberland Council would then 
have an up to date Local Plan for all parts of the Council area when 
determining planning applications. 

 
4.6 A programme outlining the proposed key milestones can be found in 

Appendix A. 
 
 
5. CONCLUSION 
 
5.1 Following discussion with the Planning Inspectorate it is recommended that 

the Council consult on the preferred Gypsy and Traveller site as a further 
Regulation 19 consultation prior to submitting the Local Plan for 
Examination.  This will reduce the risk of: 

 
  Two sites being allocated in the Plan as Gypsy and Traveller sites 
  Protracted discussions, consultations and delays during the public 

Examination 
 

Page 7



5.2 In addition, the consultation can consider an update to Policy N5PU 
(Protection of Water Resources) to require nutrient neutrality from 
development. 

 
5.3 The timetable associated with this approach is in Appendix A, and if agreed 

they will be incorporated into an updated Local Development Scheme that 
will be presented to Full Council on 6th July. 

 
5.4 Details of the proposed public consultation are in the accompanying report 

on this agenda. 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A Updated Programme for the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 
 
 

Page 8



Appendix A: Updated Programme for the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 
 

 
 
 

May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep
LDF Panel to agree G&T Site/Nutrients Policy 24th

Council to agree G&T Site/Nutrients Policy 6th

Reg. 19 Consultation on G&T Site/Nutrients Policy 13th 24th

Submission of the Plan 16th

Appointment of Inspector 3rd

Issues and Questions 24th

Examination Hearing sessions 5th-16th

Main Modifications consultation (4 Weeks) 16th 10th

Inspector’s Report 26th

Adoption

2022 2023

P
age 9



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038: Consultation into the proposed Gypsy and 
Traveller site allocation and amendments to Policy N5 (Water Resources) 

 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor Andy Pratt  

LEAD OFFICER: Chris Hoban  

REPORT AUTHOR: Ellie Church  

 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT  

To request Members agreement to amend Local Plan 2021-2038 Policy H9 to 
include site GTW5 (Land at Sneckyeat, Whitehaven) as a Gypsy and Traveller 
allocation. Agreement is also sought for changes to Policy N5 (Water 
Resources), which has been amended to address the issue of nutrient 
neutrality.  

To seek members agreement to commence a six-week public consultation on 
these changes and that, following the consultation, the two amended policies 
are included within the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 and submitted to the 
Secretary of State for independent examination.  

RECOMMENDATIONS  

That Members:  

a) Consider the suitability of site GTW5 (land at Sneckyeat) for Gypsy and 
Traveller use and recommend the inclusion of the site within Policy H9 
as a Gypsy and Traveller allocation to Full Council  

b) Consider the proposed amendments to Policy N5 to address the issue of 
nutrient neutrality and recommend the approval of the revised policy 
wording to Full Council  

c) Approve the consultation document to be presented at Full Council with 
a recommendation that it be subject to a six week public consultation 
between 13th July and 24th August 2022, and that following the 
consultation, the amended policies are submitted to the Secretary of 
State for public examination as part of the Copeland Local Plan 2021-
2038.  

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



2 

GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITE ALLOCATION  

1. INTRODUCTION  
1.1 Copeland Borough Council has a responsibility to meet the needs of all 

its residents, including those who identify as Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople under the Housing and Planning Act 2016.  
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (2015) also states that local planning 
authorities should identify sufficient deliverable and developable sites to 
meet any identified needs. 

1.2 The Council has been working alongside the other Cumbrian Local 
Authorities of Allerdale, Barrow-in-Furness, Carlisle, Eden, South 
Lakeland and the Lake District National Park Authority to develop the 
Cumbria Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) to 
understand the current and future needs of the Gypsy and Traveller 
community within Cumbria between 2021-2040.  

1.3 The GTAA identified a requirement for 12 residential pitches in Copeland 
to meet the needs of households that meet the planning definition of 
Gypsies and Travellers.  
 

2. PREVIOUS CONSULTATION 

2.1 The Council undertook a public consultation between 21st March and 3rd 
May 2022 to seek comments on two potential sites for allocation as 
Gypsy and Traveller accommodation, sites GTW3: Land at Greenbank, 
Whitehaven, and GTW5: Land at Sneckyeat, Whitehaven. The purpose of 
the consultation was to gain opinions on the two sites, and to receive 
additional evidence surrounding the suitability of each site for allocation. 
It was anticipated that following the consultation, the preferred site 
would be added to the Local Plan as a site allocation.  

2.2 Officers have now identified site GTW5 as their preferred allocation. This 
decision has been evidenced by a number of technical reports and 
evidence base documents, including Sustainability Appraisal, Habitats 
Regulations Assessment, and Site Access Assessment, as well as 
comments from statutory bodies, including utilities providers. 

2.3 The Strategic Planning Team attended an Advisory Meeting on the 29th 
March 2022 with a Planning Inspector to discuss the Local Plan 
submission process. They advised that the team carried out an 
additional consultation into the preferred site. This is because it will 

Page 12



3 

result in a quicker and more streamlined examination process if only one 
site is submitted as part of the Local Plan. Without this additional 
consultation, there is a risk that both sites will be allocated through the 
plan, which would be above the required provision and is not the 
intention of the Council.   

3. IDENTIFYING A SITE FOR ALLOCATION  

3.1 To make a decision on a preferred site for allocation, we took into 
consideration all responses received through the consultation and 
combined this with information from key evidence base documents. 
Appendix A provides a summarised breakdown of the responses we 
received and the key evidence base documents findings which have 
contributed towards the decision making.  

3.2 A total of 194 consultation responses were received, with 123 people 
commenting on GTW3 and 68 commenting on GTW5. The majority of 
these responses consisted of objections to the sites. An additional 17 
responses consisted of general comments surrounding the concept of 
allocating land for this purpose. A petition was also submitted to the 
Council which objected to both sites on the grounds that they felt “not 
enough consideration has been given to more suitable areas to host the 
site within Copeland”. 

3.3 The majority of the evidence indicates that GTW5 would be the 
preferable site for allocation, with more site constraints being present 
on GTW3. This includes evidence from Ecology, Landscape and Access 
Assessments, Habitats regulations Assessment and Heritage Impact 
Assessments, as well as consultation responses received from statutory 
consultees, including the Coal Authority, United Utilities, Historic 
England, the Environment Agency and Sport England. A full summary of 
the evidence received can be seen in Appendix A.  

3.4 We have produced a Frequently Asked Questions sheet which seeks to 
answer some of the questions we received through the previous 
consultation. It is felt that this will help to improve understanding of the 
purpose of the site, and how it fits in with the Local Plan process. The 
FAQ sheet can be viewed in Appendix B.  

 

Page 13



4 

4. CONSULTATION  

4.1 In order to be found sound, Local Plan policy H9PU and its supporting 
text need to be updated to allocate a specific site for Gypsy and Traveller 
pitches.  

4.2 Based on the available evidence and consultation responses, Officers 
consider site GTW5 to be the most suitable and least constrained site for 
allocation as a Gypsy and Traveller site. We are therefore seeking the 
approval of the LDF Panel to allocate the site and commence a six week 
public consultation.   

4.3 Should the site be approved at Full Council, amended Policy H9 will be 
the subject of a six week public consultation (under Regulation 19 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012) 
prior to the submission of the full Local Plan to the Secretary of State for 
Public Examination. The Consultation will run from 13th July to 24th 
August 2022. 

4.4 The Examination is expected to last for the remainder of 2022 and it is 
anticipated that the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 will be adopted in 
Summer 2023. 

 

NUTRIENT NEUTRALITY  

5. INTRODUCTION  

5.1 Since the production of the Publication Draft, the Government has 
produced new guidance relating to nutrient neutrality. This prevents 
new developments from taking place where they will result in higher 
levels of phosphates and nitrates in protected watercourses currently 
affected by water pollution.  

5.2 In April 2022 an area of Copeland was identified to be affected by 
nutrient pollution, in the catchment area for the Derwent and 
Bassenthwaite SAC. The new guidance does not affect any of the 
proposed allocations within the emerging Local Plan. However, to 
comply with the guidance, Council officers are proposing to make 
amendments to policy N5 (Water resources) to address the issue which 
may affect future windfall developments.  

Page 14



5 

6. PROPOSED CHANGES TO POLICY N5 

6.1 The proposed amended wording of Policy N5 is as follows (additional 
text is shown in bold):  

Policy N5: Protection of Water Resources 
 
Water Quality 
New development must seek to protect or improve the quality of surface 
and groundwater water resources, including designated coastal Bathing 
Waters and Shellfish Waters downstream. Proposals should follow the 
hierarchy for wastewater treatment with foul drainage connected to mains 
sewer wherever possible. New development should not be operational or 
occupied until such time as adequate waste water infrastructure has been 
provided. 
 
Where an affected development within the catchment of the Derwent and 
Bassenthwaite Lake SAC (or any other catchment identified by the 
Government as being affected by nutrient neutrality in the future) this must 
not result in adverse impacts on the integrity of the SAC through the 
creation of nutrient pollution, unless suitable solutions are identified 
through an Appropriate Assessment to ensure no residual harm remains 
following mitigation.  
 
The possibility of contamination from former uses on any application site 
and its effects on the water environment and human health needs to be 
considered and remediated where it is present.  
Proposals will be required to support the objectives of the Water Framework 
Directive, including the objectives for Protected Areas (such as Bathing 
Waters and Shellfish Waters) as set out in the North-West River Basin 
Management Plan. 
 
Water Supply 
New development should ensure there is sufficient water resource available 
to meet current and future needs, without putting the environment at risk. 
Wherever possible development should include water efficiency and saving 
measures.  
 

 

Page 15



6 

6.2  The draft policy has undergone Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats 
Regulations Assessment, both of which are currently being reviewed by 
statutory consultees.   

6.3 It should be noted that this consultation with Statutory bodies 
surrounding the Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of the revised policy and its supporting text 
has not yet ended, and therefore the wording may be subject to change.  
If any minor amendments are proposed from their feedback we will 
table them at the meeting. 

7. CONSULTATION  

7.1 Officers would like to carry out a six week public consultation to gain 
views on the proposed changes to Policy N5PU. During this time 
comments will also be sought on minor changes to the text supporting 
the policy that explain nutrient neutrality.  

7.2 Officers recommend that LDF panel approve the consultation into the 
proposed wording changes to Policy N5 to address the issue of nutrient 
neutrality. 

7.3 If support from LDF Panel is gained, Officers will then be seeking Full 
Council approval on 6th July 2022 to commence the consultation.  

7.4 Should the wording change be approved at Full Council, it will be the 
subject of a six week public consultation (Regulation 19) prior to the 
submission of the full Local Plan to the Secretary of State for Public 
Examination.  

7.5 The Examination is expected to last for the remainder of 2022 and it is 
anticipated that the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 will be adopted in 
Summer 2023.  

8. CONCLUSIONS  

8.1 Following a previous consultation into sites GTW3 and GTW5 as 
potentially suitable sites for a Gypsy and Traveller allocation, Officers 
have identified site GTW5 as their preferred site. The site will need to be 
incorporated into Policy H9. 

Page 16



7 

8.2 In addition to this, amendments have been proposed to policy N5: 
Protection of Water Resources to address the issue of Nutrient 
Neutrality.   

8.3 Council Officers are now seeking agreement from LDF Panel to carry out 
a six-week public consultation on amendments to these two policies 
prior to submission to the Secretary of State for public examination by a 
Planning Inspector.  

9. APPENDICES 

Appendix A: Proposed Consultation Paper 

Appendix B: Frequently Asked Questions surrounding the Gypsy and Traveller 
allocation 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

1 

 

 
 

Copeland Local Plan 
2021-2038: Publication 
Draft Addendum 
 
Gypsy and Traveller Site 
Allocation and 
amendments to Policy 
N5: Water Resources 
 
Regulation 19 
Consultation Paper 

 
 
 

 
      

 

  

July 2022

Page 19



Appendix A

2 

Contents 
1. Introduction ....................................................................................................................................3 

2. Gypsy and Traveller site allocation .................................................................................................4 

Background .........................................................................................................................................4 

Previous consultation .........................................................................................................................4 

Proposed changes to Policy H9 and its supporting text .....................................................................5 

3. Nutrient Neutrality .........................................................................................................................7 

Background .........................................................................................................................................7 

Proposed changes to Policy N5 and its supporting text .....................................................................7 

4. Focus of the consultation and how to respond ............................................................................10 

Appendix A: Summary of responses and evidence received in relation to sites GTW3 and GTW5 .12 

Appendix B: Map of GTW5: Land at Sneckyeat Industrial Estate, Whitehaven ................................21 

Appendix C: River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake catchment map .............................................22 

 

  

Page 20



Appendix A

3 

1. Introduction  
1.1 This document is to complete the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 by updating Policy 

H9PU and its supporting text in the Publication Draft to include a Gypsy and Traveller 
site allocation. It also makes amendments to Policy N5PU: Water Resources, to 
address the issue of Nutrient Neutrality.  

1.2 The Council has carried out an assessment to identify potentially suitable sites to 
take forward as a Gypsy and Traveller allocation through the Local Plan. Two sites 
were subject to public consultation between the 21st March and 3rd May 2022. This, 
alongside additional evidence base, technical reports and assessments (including 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and Sustainability Appraisal (SA)), has 
resulted in one site being identified as preferable for allocation. Following advice 
from the Planning Inspectorate, it is necessary to carry out an additional public 
consultation into revised Policy H9PU with the preferred site allocation included.  

1.3 In addition to this, The Council are proposing amendments to Policy N5PU: Water 
Resources and its supporting text, to address the issue of Nutrient Neutrality. New 
Government guidance has been released since the production of the Publication 
Draft, which requires development to take account of nutrient impacts on habitats 
sites and ensuring nutrient neutrality is secured as part of a proposal before planning 
permission is granted.  

1.4 Chapter 2 of this consultation paper identifies the preferred Gypsy and Traveller Site 
Allocation and update to Policy H9PU, while chapter 3 outlines the proposed 
additional text within Policy N5PU: Water Resources to ensure nutrient neutrality 
from development. 

1.5 The proposed amendments to Policies H9PU and N5PU and their supporting text will 
be subject to an additional six week consultation under Regulation 19 of the Town 
and County Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. This will run 
between Wednesday 13th July and Wednesday 24th August 2022. 

1.6 Following this, the updated Local Plan Publication Draft, including the two amended 
policies and supporting text, will be submitted to the Secretary of State for Public 
Examination. It is then anticipated that the Local Plan will be adopted in Summer 
2023.  

1.7 If you wish to make any comments on updated Policies H9PU and N5PU, the 
proposed Gypsy and Traveller site allocation or the supporting text, please do so 
using the accompanying representation form by no later than Wednesday 24th 
August 2022.  

  

Page 21



Appendix A

4 

2. Gypsy and Traveller site allocation 
Background  

2.1 The Council has a responsibility to meet the housing needs of all its residents 
including those who identify as Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 
under the Housing and Planning Act 2016. 

2.2 At the time the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038 Publication Draft was produced, 
the evidence identifying the need for Gypsy and Traveller pitches was 
incomplete. Since then, the Cumbria Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment has been completed, which identified a need for 12 residential 
Gypsy and Traveller pitches in Copeland.  

2.3 In order to meet this need, the Strategic Planning team caried out a public 
consultation into two proposed sites to gain public views and stakeholder 
comments to determine the most suitable site for use as a Gypsy and Traveller 
site allocation. Additional evidence base documents have now also been 
produced which have led to a preferred site being selected.  

2.4 It was anticipated that following the consultation, the preferred site would be 
added to the Local Plan as a site allocation. However, the Strategic Planning 
Team attended an Advisory Meeting on the 29th March 2022 with a Planning 
Inspector to discuss the Local Plan submission process. They advised that the 
Council carried out an additional consultation into the preferred site, 
accompanied by the HRA, SA and additional evidence and assessments that have 
been undertaken. This is because it will result in a quicker and more streamlined 
examination process if only one site is submitted as part of the Local Plan. Also, 
without this additional consultation, there is a risk that both sites could be 
allocated in the Local Plan, which would be above the required provision and is 
not the intention of the Council.   

2.5 Following this consultation, the preferred site will be included as a Gypsy and 
Traveller site allocation under Policy H9PU and will form part of the Submission 
draft of the Copeland Local Plan. This will be submitted to the Secretary of State 
and will be subject to a public examination. It is anticipated that the Local Plan 
will then be adopted in Summer 2023.  

Previous consultation 
2.6 A public consultation into the two proposed sites for Gypsy and Traveller 

accommodation took place between 21st March and 3rd May 2022. The two 
proposed sites were as follows:  
 

  GTW3: Land north of Greenbank, Whitehaven   
  GTW5: Land at Sneckyeat Industrial Estate, Whitehaven  
 

2.7 The purpose of the consultation was to gain opinions on the two sites, and to 
receive additional evidence surrounding the suitability of each site for allocation. 
  

Page 22



Appendix A

5 

2.8 A total of 194 consultation responses were received, with 123 people 
commenting on GTW3 and 68 commenting on GTW5. The majority of these 
responses consisted of objections to the sites. An additional 17 responses 
consisted of general comments surrounding the concept of allocating land for 
this purpose.  

 
2.9 In addition to this, a petition was submitted to the Council which objected to 

both sites on the grounds that they felt “not enough consideration has been 
given to more suitable areas to host the site within Copeland”. The purpose of 
the site is to meet an identified need and a full assessment has been carried out 
on both pieces of land to determine their suitability. The reason for limited sites 
being considered was due to the lack of availability of land, resulting in the 
Council using their own landholdings for this purpose.  

 
2.10 The majority of the evidence indicates that GTW5 would be the preferable site 

for allocation, with more site constraints being present on GTW3. This includes 
evidence from Ecology, Landscape and Access Assessments, Habitats Regulations 
Assessment, Sustainability Appraisal and Heritage Impact Assessments, as well as 
consultation responses received from statutory consultees, including the Coal 
Authority, United Utilities, Historic England, the Environment Agency and Sport 
England. A summary of the evidence and responses received can be seen in 
appendix A.  
 

2.11 In light of this, the Council are proposing site GTW5 as the preferred site to be 
included as an allocation under Policy H9PU.  

Proposed changes to Policy H9 and its supporting text   
 

2.12 The Council is proposing to make some amendments to Section 13.12 and Policy 
H9 of the Copeland local Plan Publication draft to reflect the preferred site for 
allocation. The proposed changes are identified below. For ease of reference: 
 

  Text proposed for deletion is shown as strikethrough 
  Text to be added is shown in bold blue text  

 
2.13 The allocation proposed for inclusion within Policy H9PU is shown in Appendix B. 

 

2.14 No changes are being proposed for Policy H10PU.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



Appendix A

6 

13.12 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Sites 
 
13.12.1 The Council has a responsibility to meet the housing needs of all its residents 

including those who identify as Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 
under the Housing and Planning Act 2016. We also have a duty under the 
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites 2015 to ensure a rolling five-year supply of 
deliverable sites for travellers. 

 
13.12.2 A Cumbria wide Gypsy and Traveller Study was is currently being produced in 

2022 that identified a need for 12 Gypsy and Traveller pitches to The initial 
findings indicate identify a need for between 1 and 12 Gypsy and Traveller 
pitches in the borough to accommodate a Copeland resident currently living in 
bricks and mortar housing and their extended family.  

 
13.12.3 A call for sites was carried out in 2021, however no sites were put forward for 

consideration. The Council will has therefore reviewed its own land assets 
against the criteria in Policy H10PU below and identified two potentially suitable 
sites in Whitehaven; land at Sneckyeat Industrial Estate (GTW5 and Land at Greenbank 
(GTW3). Please see the Gypsy and Traveller Site Assessment Paper for further 
details regarding site selection. 

 
13.12.4 The Council is currently assessing a number of its own sites against the criteria in 

Policy H10PU below and is seeking views from the Lead Local Flood Authority 
and Highways Authority. Potential suitable sites will be were subject to a 6-week 
public consultation in April/May early 2022. The site taken forward will then be 
identified in Policy H9PU below. Both sites were subject to a 6 week public 
consultation throughout March/April 2022 and were subject to Habitats Regulations 
Assessment and Sustainability Appraisal. Additional assessments, including ecology 
assessments and site access assessments were also carried out to determine which 
was the most appropriate site to take forward as an allocation. After full consideration 
of the issues, the Council on 6th July 2022 , agreed to allocate site GTW5 (land at 
Sneckyeat). This site was then subject to a public consultation under Regulation 19. 

 
13.12.5   Before development can commence on the site, planning permission will need to be 

sought, alongside a Construction Environmental Management Plan and a Drainage 
Strategy. The landowner will also have to identify a suitable replacement area of open 
space to meet the requirements of Policy N11. 

 
13.12.6 Should a need for any additional or short term/transient pitches arise following 

the Plan’s adoption, applications will be dealt with in accordance with Policy 
H10PU below.   

 

Strategic Policy H9PU: Allocated Site for Gypsies, and Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople  

 

Page 24



Appendix A

7 

 
The following site is allocated for 12 pitches for Gypsy, traveller or travelling show-
people mobile homes: 
 
Site GTW5: Land at Sneckyeat, Whitehaven  
 
 *Site to be identified through a separate consultation in early 2022 once the need for 
pitches has been confirmed* 
 
The site must be retained for this purpose and the site must be designed in 
accordance with criteria b-g of Policy H10PU. 

 

 

3. Nutrient Neutrality  
Background 

3.1 Since the production of the Publication Draft, the Government has produced new 
guidance relating to nutrient neutrality. This requires development to take 
account of nutrient impacts on habitats sites and ensuring nutrient neutrality is 
secured as part of a proposal before planning permission is granted. 
  

3.2 In April 2022 an area of Copeland was identified to be affected by nutrient 
pollution, in the catchment area for the Derwent and Bassenthwaite SAC. The 
affected area is limited to parts of the parishes of Lamplugh, Arlecdon and 
Rowrah and Distington and does not affect any of the proposed allocations 
within the emerging Local Plan. 
 

3.3 However to comply with the guidance, Council officers are proposing to make 
amendments to Policy N5 (Water Resources) to address the issue which may 
affect future windfall developments. Additional information about the issue of 
nutrient neutrality, the affected areas, and what this means for the Development 
Management process, can be found on the CBC website1. A map of the affected 
area can be seen in appendix C.  

Proposed changes to Policy N5 and its supporting text  
 

3.4 The Council is proposing to make some amendments to section 15.12 and Policy 
N5 of the Publication Draft to reflect the Government guidance surrounding 
nutrient neutrality. The proposed changes are set out below. For ease of 
reference:  
 

  Text proposed for deletion is shown as strikethrough  
  Text to be added is shown in bold blue text  

 
1 https://www.copeland.gov.uk/nutrient-neutrality  

Page 25

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/nutrient-neutrality


Appendix A

8 

 

15.12 Water Resources  
 
15.12.1 A high quality water environment supports wildlife, provides quality of life 
benefits, and can support local economies, boosting land and property values, agriculture, 
tourism and recreation. Where it is not properly planned for, new development can 
increase pressure on the water environment. Planned development can provide 
opportunities to protect and enhance the water quality. Pressures on the water 
environment arise from point sources such as discharges from wastewater treatment, and 
from diffuse sources such as urban and rural water run-off. Development should ensure 
there is adequate waste water treatment infrastructure to ensure no deterioration in 
water quality. 
 
 15.12.2 The current River Basin Management Plan (the North West River Basin 
Management Plan) requires the restoration and enhancement of water bodies to prevent 
deterioration and promote recovery of water bodies. Any development should safeguard 
these important water resources and protect and improve water quality with an overall 
aim of getting water bodies to ‘good’ status as defined by the Water Framework 
Directive. 
 
 15.12.3 Copeland has 4 designated Bathing Water beaches at Haverigg, Silecroft, Seascale 
and St Bees and all comply with the standards outlined in the Bathing Water Directive.  
 
15.12.4 Silecroft and St Bees are both classed as excellent water quality, Seascale is Good 
and Haverigg is Sufficient. Further investment to improve water quality in the Copeland 
Local Plan Publication Draft 2021 202 Duddon catchment is required to protect Haverigg 
from the risk of failing future assessment.  
 
15.12.5 Copeland has 2 designated Shellfish Waters on the Duddon estuary and at 
Ravenglass, and microbial water quality has improved to enable them to achieve the 
Water Framework Directive requirement for Shellfish Water Protected Areas.  
 
15.12.6 There are 30 river waterbodies designated under the Water Framework Directive 
in the area covered by the Plan. The 2019 classification results showed that, of these 13 
are currently achieving ‘Good’; 13 are achieving ‘Moderate’ and 4 are classified as ‘Poor’ 
ecological status/potential.  
 
Nutrient Neutrality  
 
15.12.7 Nutrient pollution is harming our water environment, particularly in many of the 
country’s freshwater habitats and estuaries. Pollution comes from a number of sources 
including waste-water from development and certain agricultural practices. It has an adverse 
effect on biodiversity by increasing the growth of invasive plants which disrupts the natural 
cycle by reducing the amount of oxygen in the water and therefore water quality. 
 
15.12.8 The Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake SAC is a protected Habitat Site under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (the Habitats Regulations) which 

Page 26



Appendix A

9 

supports a number of habitats and species. Part of the SAC catchment area is located within the 
north of the borough and covers around 3.6% of the Copeland Local Plan area. The Conservation 
Objectives for the SAC states there is a need to ‘restore stable nutrient levels appropriate for 
lake type’ and that ‘the natural nutrient regime of the river should be protected, with any 
anthropogenic enrichment above natural/background concentrations should be limited to 
levels at which adverse effects on characteristic biodiversity are unlikely’. Nitrogen and 
phosphorus levels are a particular problem within the catchment area.  
 
15.12.9 Guidance was produced by the Government in March 2022 relating to nutrient 
neutrality. The guidance requires that local planning authorities carefully consider the nutrient 
impacts of any new plans or projects on Habitat Sites through the Habitats Regulations process. 
Where adverse impacts on the integrity of a Habitats Site are identified then mitigation must be 
considered. Nutrient neutrality is the term used for such mitigation. 
 
15.12.10 Before granting any new planning permissions, the Council2 will need to be confident 
that the development in question does not require nutrient neutrality to be acceptable under 
the regulations or that nutrient neutrality is secured, as part of the proposal.  
 
15.12.11 Developers will therefore be required to submit a Habitats Regulations Assessment 
which assesses the impact of nutrient pollution caused by particular developments3 located 
within the catchment area of the Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake SAC. The HRA Screening 
stage will need to identify whether the development will have adverse effects upon the 
integrity of the Habitat Site through the use of a nutrient budget calculator. If adverse effects 
are identified an Appropriate Assessment will be required to identify the most appropriate 
solutions to ensure there are no residual effects following mitigation. This would also apply if 
additional catchments are identified as being affected by nutrient neutrality in the future. 
 
15.12.12 As the issue of nutrient neutrality is new to the Copeland area, at present there are no 
mitigation solutions in place or readily available and in order to demonstrate nutrient neutrality 
a number of different solutions may be appropriate. This could include nature-based solutions 
such as new wetlands, woodlands or riparian buffer strips or hard solutions such as 
improvements to existing waste-water treatment works. In many cases a combination of both 
hard and nature-based solutions will be required and these will usually secured through a 
Section 106 or unilateral agreement with the developer. We appreciate that it may take time 
for applicants to secure mitigation, particularly where additional land outside the application 
site needs to be sourced.  
 
15.12.13 The Council has updated its validation list to help developers navigate the process by 
setting out what information will be required to support a planning application. We will also 
work with partners and developers to identify the most appropriate solutions.  
 
15.12.14 DEFRA have published a policy paper on the subject which can be found here: Nutrient 
pollution: reducing the impact on protected sites - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 
 
15.12.15 Policy N5 relates to “affected developments”. At present, this means all development 
that creates overnight accommodation within the catchment area. The Government have stated 
that nutrient neutrality is only an interim solution and further developments such as industrial 
developments may also be required to follow the same procedure in the future. The Policy will 

 
2 Taking into consideration advice from Natural England 
3 Those that create additional overnight accommodation such as housing developments etc. 

Page 27

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nutrient-pollution-reducing-the-impact-on-protected-sites/nutrient-pollution-reducing-the-impact-on-protected-sites
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nutrient-pollution-reducing-the-impact-on-protected-sites/nutrient-pollution-reducing-the-impact-on-protected-sites


Appendix A

10 

therefore also relate to any such development that is referred to within the Government’s 
nutrient neutrality policy. 
 
15.12.16 15.12.7 Policy N5PU below The policy also aims to protect watercourses from 
further decline. Any new discharge into a watercourse (or work with it) may require 
consent from Cumbria County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority or the 
Environment Agency depending on whether it is a main river or not. 

 
Policy N5PU: Protection of Water Resources 
 

 
 
New development must seek to protect or improve the quality of surface and 
groundwater water resources, including designated coastal Bathing Waters and 
Shellfish Waters downstream. Proposals should follow the hierarchy for wastewater 
treatment with foul drainage connected to mains sewer wherever possible. New 
development should not be operational or occupied until such time as adequate 
waste water infrastructure has been provided. 
 
Where an affected development within the catchment of the Derwent and Bassenthwaite 
Lake SAC (or any other catchment identified by the Government as being affected by 
nutrient neutrality in the future) this must not result in adverse impacts on the integrity of 
the SAC through the creation of nutrient pollution, unless suitable solutions are identified 
through an Appropriate Assessment to ensure no residual harm remains following 
mitigation.  
 
The possibility of contamination from former uses on any application site and its 
effects on the water environment and human health needs to be considered and 
remediated where it is present. 
 
Proposals will be required to support the objectives of the Water Framework 
Directive, including the objectives for Protected Areas (such as Bathing Waters and 
Shellfish Waters) as set out in the North West River Basin Management Plan. 
 
New development should ensure there is sufficient water resource available to meet 
current and future needs, without putting the environment at risk. Wherever possible 
development should include water efficiency and saving measures.  
 

 

4. Focus of the consultation and how to respond 

4.1 The Council wishes to seek the views of key stakeholders and interested 
members of the public regarding the suitability of the proposed Gypsy and 
Traveller allocation set out in Policy H9 and the proposed amendments to policy 

Page 28



Appendix A

11 

N5: Water Resources. Views are also sought on changes to the supporting text 
surrounding both policies. The policy and supporting text wording is that which 
will appear in the Submission draft of the Local Plan, which will be sent to the 
Secretary of State for public examination.  
 

4.2 The public consultation will run for a total of six weeks from Wednesday 13th July 
until Wednesday 24th August. Any response received after this date will not be 
taken into consideration.  
 

4.3 Responses must be made using the relevant submission form sent to 
localplanconsultation@copeland.gov.uk and must clearly set out reasons for 
support/objection. Any comments received will be made publicly available 
(personal details will be omitted) and will be reproduced in a future Consultation 
Responses document.  

4.4 Responses can also be submitted by post to the following address: 

Strategic Planning 
Copeland Borough Council 
Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
Cumbria 
CA28 7JG 

4.5 Should you require any further information please contact the Strategic Planning 
Team on 01946 598300 or at the email address above. 

 

Page 29

mailto:localplanconsultation@copeland.gov.uk


Appendix A

12 

Appendix A: Summary of responses and evidence received in relation to sites GTW3 and GTW5 
 

The following appendix provides a summary of the comments received during the public consultation and the Council’s response to those, if 
they are a matter that the Local Plan can consider.  Following this are the conclusions from the evidence base assessments that were carried 
out for both sites. 

Responses to the Gypsy and Traveller consultation  

Total number of responses: 194 

Responses to GTW3: 123 

Comment summary  Strategic Planning Matter?  
Community concerns e.g. noise, disturbance, anti- social behaviour, 
reduction in property values (this made up the vast majority of responses)  

No, but amenity and impact on neighbours will be considered at the 
planning application stage if a planning application is ever submitted by a 
prospective developer.  

Concerns around road infrastructure, road safety and access suitability  Yes- access has been demonstrated through a site access assessment  
Environmental concerns- loss of habitats  Yes- impact is shown through the SA, HRA and Ecology Assessments and 

will be mitigated accordingly  
Infrastructure provision- in particular impact on local school places  Yes- infrastructure requirements will be outlined through an update to the 

IDP 
Land suitability surrounding previous use of quarry  Yes 

 

Responses to GTW5: 68 

Comment Summary  Strategic Planning Matter?  
Issue of site being identified through OSA and how we will mitigate the loss  Yes 
Amenity impacts surrounding location in close proximity to Hospital, 
Industrial estate and Pigeon Lofts. Impacts on local businesses  

Yes, although impacts on amenities will be dealt with through a planning 
application  

Concerns around road infrastructure, road safety and access suitability  Yes, this has been considered in the Site Access Study and any impacts will 
be dealt with through a planning application.  

Infrastructure provision- impact on local school places and services  Yes- dealt with through the IDP 

P
age 30



Appendix A

13 

Comment Summary  Strategic Planning Matter?  
Community concerns- including antisocial behaviour No 
Drainage issues and excess surface water which would be exacerbated by 
proposal  

Yes, drainage issues will be dealt with through a planning application  

Potential for contamination to nearby beck  
Site is adjacent to a Grade II listed building  Yes. HIA outlines the site as having low mitigated harm to the listed 

buildings   
Concerns around contamination- site is on a former tip  Yes  
Concerns around landscape impacts  Yes. Will be considered through the Landscape assessment  
Concerns around ecological and habitat Impacts  Yes. Outlined through SA and will be mitigated accordingly.  

 

General responses: 17 (Full responses to these and others will be set out in FAQ sheet) 

Comment summary  Strategic Planning matter?  
No information on how site will be managed  No. Will be dealt with through a planning application  
Will residents pay Council tax? No  
Some misinformation in places, for example some residents are under the 
belief that the site will be for 24 pitches  

No. Site will be allocated for 12 residential pitches  

Why have CBC not considered sites south of Egremont  Yes. No appropriate sites were available in that location  
Engagement- concerns that no public meetings were held with CBC  Yes- All consultation was held in accordance with the SCI. Public meetings 

were not held due to the number of non- planning related issues that were 
raised through the consultation responses.  

Questions around the definition of Gypsy/ traveller and whether there is a 
genuine need for the site  

Yes. Need has been outlined through the GTAA which was carried out by 
experts in the field  

Ask for more rural locations to be considered for site  Yes, but sustainable development principles and the need for that 
community to access services focussed the scope for sites around 
settlements and CBC owned land in those locations. 

Why aren’t sites in neighbouring authorities or the LDNPA being 
considered  

Yes. The National Park is its own planning authority with its own identified 
need in the GTAA.  

 

P
age 31



Appendix A

14 

In addition to this, a petition was submitted to the Council which objected to both sites on the grounds that they felt “not enough 
consideration has been given to more suitable areas to host the site within Copeland”.  

The purpose of the site allocation is to meet an identified need and a full assessment has been carried out on both pieces of land to determine 
their suitability. The reason for limited sites being considered was due to the lack of availability of land, resulting in the Council using their own 
landholdings for this purpose.   

Statutory consultee and Parish/County Council responses  

Consultee  GTW3 GTW5 
Historic England  Agree no Heritage impact Agree no heritage impacts  
Environment Agency No objection- mains sewerage can be achieved  No objection- mains sewerage can be achieved  
Coal Authority  Our records indicate that on this site there is a recorded mine 

entry for which we hold no treatment details. It is recorded in the 
north western corner of the site but its recorded position may be 
subject to significant departure from its actual location. The site is 
also in an area of coal outcrops which may have been subject to 
unrecorded coal workings at shallow depth. These features pose a 
potential risk to surface stability and public safety. 
The mine entry poses a significant risk to public safety and we 
would expect its location to be established .and any development, 
including the siting of structures and mobile homes to avoid this 
feature and its associated zone of influence. If development is 
proposed within the site with the mine entry this feature should be 
located and either treated (stabilised and capped) or fenced to 
avoid any risks being posed to occupiers and users of the site. 
The Coal Authority is of the opinion that building over the top of, 
or in close proximity to, mine entries should be avoided wherever 
possible, even after they have been capped, in line with our 
adopted policy: 

This site lies within the Development Low Risk Area and there 
are no coal mining features recorded as being present at 
surface and shallow depth in this area. 

Sport England  No Comments No comments  
National Grid  No comments  No comments  

P
age 32



Appendix A

15 

Consultee  GTW3 GTW5 
United Utilities  Site Reference GTW3 CBC Land Lying to the West of Greenbank 

Avenue  
An existing public sewer and water main pass through this site. 
United Utilities will not allow building  
over or in close proximity to a water main. United Utilities may not 
allow building over or in close  
proximity to a public sewer. 
Any surface water should discharge to the most sustainable option 
in accordance with the hierarchy for  
the management of surface water outlined in the national planning 
practice guidance. If an infiltration  
system is not feasible, surface water should discharge to the 
watercourse to the east of the site.  
There are significant changes in levels at the site and therefore if 
this site is allocated, any development  
will need to give careful consideration to the site layout and levels 
to allow for safe overland flow routes  
within and through the development, and, to minimise any 
associated flood risk from overland flows that  
may arise from existing drainage systems or as a result of a 
drainage system failure. Careful consideration  
must be given to the point of connection to the public sewer. We 
wish to note that where the ground  
level of the site is below the ground level at the point where the 
drainage connects to the public sewer,  
care must be taken to ensure that the proposed development is 
not at an increased risk of sewer  
surcharge. It is good practice for the finished floor levels and 
manhole cover levels (including those that  
serve private drainage runs) to be higher than the manhole cover 
level at the point of connection to the  
receiving sewer 

A water main passes through this site. United Utilities will not 
allow building over or in close proximity to a water main. Any 
surface water should discharge to the most sustainable option 
in accordance with the hierarchy for the management of 
surface water outlined in the national planning practice 
guidance. From a review of our mapping records, it is not clear 
whether this site has readily available alternatives to the public 
sewer for the management of surface water. This should be 
investigated further to understand what options may exist. We 
recommend that these investigations take place as soon as 
possible. 

P
age 33



Appendix A

16 

Consultee  GTW3 GTW5 
 

Homes England  No Comment  No comment  
County Council  Land north of Greenbank Whitehaven Existing access to the site 

from Woodhouse Road is appropriate. Access roads into the site 
will be steep and will need careful design to comply with Design 
Guide maximum gradients. Pedestrian access paths to existing 
footways from site boundaries to west and north on Woodhouse 
Road and Low Road should be provided. No known surface water 
or flooding issues. Would expect to see infiltration strategy 
explored for surface water but site is steep so needs careful design 
to prevent lateral seepage. There is a surface water sewer in Low 
Road which could be utilised if infiltration is proved non-viable. 
United Utilities (UU) combined sewer runs through the site 
meaning that the Foul Strategy for the site should be 
straightforward. Acceptable in principle. 

GTW5a Land at Sneckyeat Industrial Estate Whitehaven Access 
would be acceptable from Sneckyeat Road but will need 
upgrading. However, the site now shown appears to be land 
locked and access should form part of the site allocation 
boundary and shown on the allocation plan. There is a Public 
Rights of Way (PRoW) on the northern boundary of site which 
must remain unfettered. To be acceptable access will need to 
be demonstrated prior to submission. There are no apparent 
watercourses or receptors for surface water on the site but 
there are no known surface water or flooding issues on the site 
either. An understanding of the existing drainage mechanism is 
required and an Infiltration Strategy should be explored. There 
is no apparent foul sewer on site, at Sneckyeat Industrial Estate 
or at Homewood Road meaning that a Foul Strategy needs to 
be explored early on with United Utilities. Acceptable in 
principle subject to the site boundary being amended to allow 
for suitable access. 

Weddicar Parish 
Council  

No comment  Object  

Whitehaven town 
council  

Object Object  

West Cumberland 
Hospital  

No comment  Object  

 

  

P
age 34



Appendix A

17 

Evidence base findings  

Evidence base GTW3 GTW5 
Site Access 
Assessments  

Access can be achieved subject to a number of considerations in 
the site proforma  

Access can be achieved subject to a number of considerations 
in the site proforma 

Sustainability 
Appraisal 

Significant negative impacts on biodiversity  
Negative impacts on landscape/ heritage- can be mitigated  

Negative impacts on biodiversity and landscape/ heritage- can 
be mitigated  

HRA (conclusion) This shadow HRA has been able to determine that as a 
result of the proposed site allocations GTW3 and GTW5, in relation 
to recreational pressure and disturbance, reduced water quality, 
hydrological changes, reduced air quality, and loss of supporting 
habitat there will be no likely significant effect on designated 
Natura 2000 sites, either as a result of the allocation alone, or in 
combination with any other plans or projects. 
 

(conclusion) This shadow HRA has been able to determine that 
as a result of the proposed site allocations GTW3 and GTW5, in 
relation to recreational pressure and disturbance, reduced 
water quality, hydrological changes, reduced air quality, and 
loss of supporting habitat there will be no likely significant 
effect on designated Natura 2000 sites, either as a result of the 
allocation alone, or in combination with any other plans or 
projects. 
 

Ecology Assessments SURVEY RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The following ecological surveys are recommended to enable a 
more detailed assessment of ecological constraints and /or 
opportunities should this land be proposed for development, to 
accompany the planning application:   

  Extended Phase 1 Habitat survey of the whole site 
including production of a habitat map during the optimal 
survey period from April to September – this will form the 
basis for any more detailed survey work. 

The following lists surveys which may be required following more 
detailed extended Phase 1 survey. Please note that other surveys 
may be identified during the more detailed Phase 1 survey: 

  Bat Roost Potential and potential further presence / likely 
absence surveys for buildings and trees on site; 

  Bat activity surveys; 

SURVEY RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The following ecological surveys are recommended to enable a 
more detailed assessment of ecological constraints and /or 
opportunities should this land be proposed for development, to 
accompany the planning application:   

  Extended Phase 1 Habitat survey of the whole site 
including production of a habitat map during the 
optimal survey period from April to September – this 
will form the basis for any more detailed survey work. 

The following lists surveys which may be required following more 
detailed extended Phase 1 survey. Please note that other surveys 
may be identified during the more detailed Phase 1 survey: 

  Bat Roost Potential for trees on site and activity surveys 
to determine foraging and commuting use; 

  Reptile presence/likely absence survey; 

P
age 35



Appendix A

18 

Evidence base GTW3 GTW5 
  Reptile presence/likely absence survey; 
  Breeding bird survey; 
  Invasive plants 

 
Pre-construction checks 

  Construction should ideally be undertaken outside the bird 
breeding season which extends from March to September. 
If works are undertaken within the breeding season, any 
trees and scrub should be checked for active birds nesting 
immediately prior to any works.   

  Depending on further survey results, there may be a 
requirement to avoid vegetation clearance and 
construction within the reptile and amphibian hibernation 
period (October 1st - March 31st inclusive). 

  Pre-construction/pre-clearance check of scrub areas for 
badger, amphibians, red squirrel and reptiles. 

  Hedgehogs may be present on the site within the 
continuous scrub, and broadleaved woodland; pre-
construction check recommended before site is cleared. 

  Key avoidance measures for reptiles and amphibians. 
  This list is not exhaustive and recommendations generated 

from further survey work should be followed. 
 

Summary of Main Ecological Constraints to Development 

 

Habitats suitable for breeding birds. 

Habitats suitable for roosting and foraging bats. 

Habitats suitable for foraging badger and sett building. 

  Breeding bird survey; 
  Invasive plants; 

 
Pre-construction checks 

  Construction should ideally be undertaken outside the 
bird breeding season which extends from March to 
September. If works are undertaken within the 
breeding season, any trees and scrub should be 
checked for active birds nesting immediately prior to 
any works.   

  Depending on further survey results, there may be a 
requirement to avoid vegetation clearance and 
construction within the reptile and amphibian 
hibernation period (October 1st - March 31st inclusive). 

  Pre-construction/pre-clearance check of scrub areas for 
badger, amphibians, red squirrel and reptiles. 

  Hedgehogs may be present on the site within the 
continuous scrub, and broadleaved woodland; pre-
construction check recommended before site is cleared. 

  Key avoidance measures for reptiles and amphibians. 
  This list is not exhaustive and recommendations 

generated from further survey work should be 
followed. 
 

Summary of Main Ecological Constraints to Development 

 

Habitats suitable for breeding birds. 

Habitats suitable for roosting and foraging bats. 

P
age 36



Appendix A

19 

Evidence base GTW3 GTW5 
Habitats suitable for reptiles. 

Potential foraging, breeding and commuting habitat for red squirrel. 

Invasive species requiring control/management. 

 

Opportunities for Biodiversity Enhancement 

The site is being considered as a gypsy and traveller site. 
Therefore, it is assumed that no permanent structures or dwellings 
will be erected.  
The trees, woodland, scrub and hedgerows on site provide good 
foraging and nesting habitat for wild birds and foraging and 
commuting bats. These features should be ideally retained 
wherever possible and disturbance to these areas should be 
limited. In addition, dark corridors on foraging areas or commuting 
features such as scrub and woodland margins and pockets of 
grassland and tall ruderal vegetation should be maintained 
wherever possible. 
The site could be enhanced through provision of bird and bat 
boxes within the woodland or on scattered trees. 

Habitats suitable for foraging badger and sett building. 

Habitats suitable for reptiles. 

Potential foraging, breeding and commuting habitat for red 
squirrel. 

Invasive species requiring control/management. 

 

Opportunities for Biodiversity Enhancement 

The site is being considered as a gypsy and traveller site. 
Therefore, it is assumed that no permanent structures or 
dwellings will be erected.  
The trees, woodland, scrub and hedgerows on site provide good 
foraging and nesting habitat for wild birds and foraging and 
commuting bats. Ideally, disturbance to these areas should be 
limited and dark corridors on any commuting features such as 
hedgerows and scrub should be maintained. 
Any species-rich areas of grassland should be identified in 
summer and protected to avoid trampling and siting of vehicles. 
Caravans or other temporary dwellings should be sited on 
grassland areas suffering from  existing compaction or 
trampling and any species-poor areas of grassland.  
The site could be enhanced by removing litter and fly-tipping 
debris and possibly planting of scrub or hedgerow along the 
southern boundary to connect the roadside woodland to the 
wider site and to provide further nectar sources for 
invertebrates and native berry-bearing shrubs for birds and as a 
screening feature from the adjacent industrial estate. 

Landscape 
assessments  

(Taken from summary) Gypsy and traveller development at site 
GTW3 would result in the loss of approximately 0.5ha of woodland 
and require significant reprofiling of the site to accommodate level 

(Taken from summary) Gypsy and traveller development within 
the eastern portion of site GTW5 however would cause limited 
harm to the current landscape and presents the opportunity to 

P
age 37



Appendix A

20 

Evidence base GTW3 GTW5 
plots and vehicle access, causing a Substantial adverse effect on 
the site landscape, and Moderate adverse effect on the local 
landscape character. The loss of woodland would be partially 
mitigated over time as proposed planting establishes, however the 
reprofiled landform, mobile homes and vehicles within the upper 
parts of the site would continue to be noticeable over planting 
lower down the slope and the residual effect on the local 
landscape character difficult to mitigate. 
 
Gypsy and traveller development on the GTW3 site would 
adversely affect the views of a considerable number of people 
including motorists at a relatively prominent sloping location on 
the southern approach into the centre of Whitehaven, as well as 
the views of nearby residents from dwellings with windows which 
face the site, and to a lesser extent and greater distance, views 
from footpaths, roads and properties on the west facing slopes of 
the opposite side of the Pow Beck valley. 

enhance the existing landscape with tree and hedgerow 
planting to provide significant landscape structure and 
connectivity with retained existing vegetation. 
 
Gypsy and traveller development within the eastern portion of 
site GTW5 would be partially contained by existing 
development and is likely to be visible by fewer people at public 
vantage points than similar development at site GTW3. 
However, development within the eastern portion of site GTW5 
would be visible at close range from the public footpath which 
runs along the northern site boundary, the users of which have 
greater sensitivity than motorists or private residents. 

HIA Low mitigated harm  Low mitigated harm  
 

 

P
age 38



Appendix A

21 

Appendix B: Map of GTW5: Land at Sneckyeat Industrial Estate, Whitehaven  
  

Page 39



Appendix A

22 

Appendix C: River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake catchment map  

Page 40



Appendix B 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 
 

Gypsy and Traveller Site Allocation: 
Frequently Asked Questions  
The Strategic Planning Team have produced this guide to answer some frequently asked 

questions surrounding the Gypsy and Traveller site allocation being proposed as part of the 

Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038. The questions are broken up into the following sections:  

1. The need for Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation  

2. Site selection  

3. Site constraints  

4. Managing and running of the site  

5. Public Engagement 

It is hoped that this will help with peoples understanding of the purpose and use of the site 

and dispel any myths around the site selection process. 

If you have any additional questions about the site or the process of allocating land for this 

use, please get in touch with the Strategic Planning team by email: 

localplanconsultation@copland.gov.uk or by ringing 01946 598300. 

The need for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation  

 

 

Why do we need a Gypsy and Traveller site in Copeland?
• The need for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation in Copeland is underpinned by 

the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA). This is a joint piece 
of work commissioned by all Local Authorises in Cumbria. The assessment 
identifies the need for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation in every Local Planning
area. The GTAA has identified a requirement for 12 residential pitches in Copeland 
for households that meet the planning definition. No need was identified for 
transit pitches in Copeland.  the GTAA can be found at: 
https://www.copeland.gov.uk/attachments/cumbria-gtaa 

How is a 'pitch' defined? 

• A pitch refers to each individual piece of land contained within the overall site, to 
meet the needs of individual households. The proposed land allocation provides 
adequate space for each pitch to provide a static home, a mobile caravan and 
parking to meet the needs of the residents. 

Page 41

mailto:localplanconsultation@copland.gov.uk


Appendix B 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 

Site Selection 

 
 

 

How are the terms ‘Gypsy and Traveller’ defined, and what process is 
carried out to confirm if people meet this criteria?

• The PPTS (2015) defines ‘Gypsies and Travellers’ as: Persons of nomadic habit of 
life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on grounds only of 
their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or health needs or old age 
have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding members of an organised group 
of travelling showpeople or circus people travelling together as such. 

• The GTAA outlines that for the purpose of planning policy, consideration must be 
given to the following:

• a) Whether they previously led a nomadic habit of life. 

• b) The reasons for ceasing their nomadic habit of life. 

• c) Whether there is an intention of living a nomadic habit of life in the future, 
and if so, how soon and in what circumstances.

• A household interview was carried out on all identified Gypsies and Travellers both 
on lawful and unlawful encampments, and those living in bricks and mortar as part 
of the GTAA. This determined the status of each household against the PPTS 
definition. Only those who met the planning definition were included within the 
need outlined in the GTAA. 

There is a lot of undeveloped land in Copeland. Why have so few sites 
been considered for this use? 

• CBC put out a call for sites at each consultation stage for the Local Plan, as well as 
a specific request in 2021 asking for landowners to put forward pieces of land for 
Gypsy and Traveller accommodation. No sites were submitted during this time, 
meaning that the Council was required to use their own landholdings for the 
purpose. The sites considered through the Gypsy and Traveller potential site 
assessment are those which were available for this purpose. 

Why are none of the considered sites located south of Egremont? 

• CBC’s Property team carried out an initial sift to determine which Council owned 
sites could be made available for use as Gypsy and Traveller accommodation. None 
of the sites available for this use are located in the south of the borough. 

Why have no sites been identified within the Lake District National 
Park? 

• Planning in the Lake District National Park is under the remit of the Lake District 
National Park Authority, and therefore Copeland Borough Council has no control 
over planning in the areas of Copeland within the National Park. The Lake District 
National Park was assessed separately to the other Local Authorities through the 
GTAA to identify need in the area, although it was concluded that there was no 
requirement for pitches to be provided within the National Park. 

Page 42



Appendix B 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 

 

 

 

 

Why can’t the site be allocated in a more rural location? 

• It is important that all Local Plan allocations, including the Gypsy and Traveller 
allocation, are well connected to existing settlements and services. This will help 
to ensure sustainable development, and help to achieve other Local Plan 
objectives. For example, locating a site away from existing services will result in 
increased car use, which will be contrary to policies such as DS2, and the Cumbria 
wide target for net zero carbon by 2037. Locating the site in close proximity to the 
existing community will also help to ensure that occupiers of the site have safe 
and easy access to services and encourage social cohesion.

Why can’t one of the identified housing allocations be used for this 
purpose? 

• The emerging Local Plan identifies the requirement for a minimum of 2,482 
additional dwellings to be provided in Copeland between 2021 and 2038. The 
identified housing allocations provide a sufficient amount of land towards 
achieving this target. By losing allocated housing land, we would run the risk of 
being unable to meet our housing target. In addition to this, the majority of the 
housing allocations are owned by private landowners, who have made their land 
available for this particular purpose and therefore CBC would be unable to allocate 
it for an alternative use. 

CBC have identified a number of opportunity sites in the borough. Why 
can’t one of these be used for this purpose? 

• Opportunity sites are identified to be available for flexible uses to aid regeneration 
of Copeland’s towns. However, as with the housing allocations, most of the 
opportunity sites are not under CBC’s ownership and therefore are unavailable. In 
addition to this, many sites are currently in use and therefore not available to 
come forward immediately. A number of the sites, for example those within 
Whitehaven town centre, may be too small, have a number of land constraints 
including flood risk, which would need mitigating prior to any development, and 
they may pose amenity concerns for both existing residents and new occupiers. 

Why can’t the site be located on an identified open space? 

• The sites proposed to be protected through the Copeland Open Space Assessment 
all play an important role for the borough, with most of them having an existing 
use, including allotments, playing pitches and areas of strategic green 
infrastructure. However, CBC have assessed every site identified in the OSA which 
is under our land ownership, and in most cases have identified land constraints 
which would result in the sites being unsuitable as a Gypsy and Traveller site.

Page 43



Appendix B 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Site Constraints  

 

 

I don’t think this site is suitable for development. What assessments 
have CBC carried out to ensure the site is deliverable? 

• All sites considered for use as Gypsy and Traveller accommodation are required to 
undergo rigorous site assessments, using the same methods as sites for traditional 
residential use. This includes Habitats Regulations Assessment and Sustainability 
Appraisal. 

• All sites have also undergone a Heritage Impact Assessment, Landscape 
Assessment, Ecology Assessments and Site Access Assessments to ensure 
deliverability .  All sites have been assessed by Cumbria County Council in their 
capacity as Highways Authority and Lead Local Flood Authority. Key statutory 
consultees, including utility providers, Historic England, National Highways and 
Natural England, among others, have also been consulted on the preferred sites, 
which would flag up any potential concerns in these areas which would need to 
be addressed. No comments were received from statutory consultees that 
indicated that the site was unsuitable for this use. A full list of statutory consultees 
can be seen in our Statement of Community Involvement. 

How will any identified constraints be managed and mitigated against? 

• Any additional land constraints will be considered through a planning application. 
For example, where there are drainage concerns, this will be considered through 
the Development Management process and appropriate mitigation will be put into 
place before any development can commence . There will be an opportunity for 
members of the public to comment on any planning application, should one be 
submitted,  which will include specific details regarding design, layout etc.

I am concerned that development of the site will impact on the views 
from my house 

• The right to a view is not something which is protected through the planning 
system as it would place significant restrictions on development. However, sites 
have been assessed through the Landscape Character Assessment, which 
highlights where any potential impacts on the character of the settlement may 
occur. The Landscape Assessment has recommended that landscaping is provided 
between the site and existing uses.

A number of sites have been ruled out based on their size. What are the 
size requirements for a site of this type? 

• A size threshold of 0.5ha has been used when identifying sites, which has been 
proposed by the consultants who carried out the GTAA, taking the Government’s 
'Designing Gypsy and Traveller Sites Good Practice Guide' into account.

• It is anticipated that this will be adequate space for the 12 required pitches, each 
of which will include a static home, a mobile caravan and adequate parking. It also 
ensures space for all ancillary development, for example shared facilities such as 
shower and toilet blocks, as well as access requirements and landscape buffering.

Page 44



Appendix B 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

Managing and running of the site  

 

Public Engagement  

 

 

Will a Gypsy and Traveller site put additional strain on key services? 
How will this be addressed?

• It is not considered likely that development of this scale will have a significant 
impact on key local services, as the majority of need comes from people already 
residing in Copeland. The impact will be considered through an update to the 
Copeland Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP), which accompanies the Local Plan. 

What happens once the land is allocated? 

• A land allocation means that a piece of land is protected for a specific use, and in 
this case it confirms the use of the land as a Gypsy and Traveller site as suitable in 
principle. Once the land is allocated, it will be up to a developer to purchase the 
site and apply for planning permission to develop the site for the 12 pitches. If this 
happens the proposal will be subject to the full planning application process. 

How will the site be managed? 

• It is anticipated that any site, if developed, will be fully and correctly managed to 
ensure that the site is well maintained and that rules are followed, for example 
surrounding any occupancy conditions. This will be dealt with through and 
following the planning application process. 

Why have no public meetings been held to discuss the proposed 
allocations? 

• CBC have had requests from members of the public to discuss the proposed 
allocations. However, upon reviewing the consultation responses being received at 
the time, it was felt that a public meeting would not be a suitable method of 
consulting. Many of the questions being asked related to non-strategic planning 
matters, for example, what a potential site would look like, or how it would be 
managed and ran. Many of these questions will be dealt with through a future 
planning application, and it is felt this will be a more appropriate time to address 
these concerns. 

How will it be ensured that more than 12 pitches will not be put on the 
site? 

• If a planning application came in on the site, an occupancy condition would be 
used to limit the number of residents or families who can live on the site. This will 
be monitored annually to ensure that additional caravans are not added without 
permission. If a planning application came in following development of the site, 
we may consider granting permission for additional pitches, providing the site 
could accommodate this and there was an identified need . 

Page 45



Appendix B 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

 

I find the structure of the consultation response form difficult to use. 
Why has it been set out in this way? 

• This consultation forms part of the Local Plan Submission draft under regulation 
19 of the Town and County Planning (Local Planning) Regulations 2012. At this 
stage of the Local Plan process it is important to ensure that the Local Plan is 
sound, legally compliant and that it complies with the duty to co-operate. 
Therefore, the response forms are set out in this way to ensure the correct format 
to be sent to the Planning Inspectorate, and any responses not in this format will 
only be considered at the Planning Inspector’s discretion. We have produced a 
Guidance note to help respondents fill in the form, which can be found on our 
website. 

How will my consultation response be used following the consultation?

• All consultation responses will be taken into consideration and will be submitted 
to the Planning Inspectorate as part of the Local Plan submission. They will then 
use these, alongside all other Publication draft responses, to determine if they 
consider the Plan to be sound, or if it requires further modifications. If you have 
requested to speak at the public hearing sessions, you will be contacted when 
these have been scheduled. All comments made at the hearing sessions will be 
considered alongside the consultation responses when the Planning Inspector 
examines the Local Plan.

Page 46


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Meeting held on 4 March 2022
	6 Local Plan 2021- 2038 Additional Consultation and Updated Programme
	1.	INTRODUCTION
	2.	PROGRESS TO DATE
	5.	CONCLUSION
	APPENDICES
	Appendix A Updated Programme for the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038
	Appendix A: Updated Programme for the Copeland Local Plan 2021-2038

	7 Local Plan 2021- 2038 Consultation into the proposed Gypsy and Traveller site allocation and amendments to Policy N5 (Water Resources)
	2022-06-24 - Appendix A Consultation Document
	1.	Introduction
	2.	Gypsy and Traveller site allocation
	Background
	Previous consultation
	Proposed changes to Policy H9 and its supporting text

	3.	Nutrient Neutrality
	Background
	Proposed changes to Policy N5 and its supporting text

	4.	Focus of the consultation and how to respond
	Appendix A: Summary of responses and evidence received in relation to sites GTW3 and GTW5
	Appendix B: Map of GTW5: Land at Sneckyeat Industrial Estate, Whitehaven
	Appendix C: River Derwent and Bassenthwaite Lake catchment map


	2022-06-24 - Appendix B G+T FAQs




